IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 64,395-403

FILED

NOV 22 1983

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CLERK SHAPE DOURS

vs.

J.M., V.V., J.H., A.M., J.W. S.L. R.B. R.H., and J.B., juveniles,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD E. DORAN Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue (Suite 820) Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner was the prosecution in the juvenile proceedings at trial and the appellant in the appellate proceedings below. Respondents were the defendant's in the juvenile proceedings at trial and the appellees in the appellant proceedings below.

Citations to the record are abbreviated as follows:

- (R) Circuit Court Clerk's Record on Appeal
- (T) Circuit Court Transcripts of Proceedings in Trial
 Court
- (A) Appendix attached hereto containing District Court opinions

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Petitioner, the State of Florida, invokes the discretionary conflict jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida to review the nine decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal, consolidated for discretionary review, which directly and expressly conflict with the decision in State v. W.A.M. 412 So.2d 49 (Fla. 5th DCA) review denied 419 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1982) and State v. J.W.P., 433 So.2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA) on the same question of law. These nine decisions are all based upon the decision of the Third

District Court of Appeal in <u>State v. C.C.</u>, 3d DCA Case No. 81-2564, Supreme Court Case No. 64,345. Excepting the case of <u>State v. R.B.</u> Case No. 64, 401, the Petitioner additionally invokes the discretionary jurisdiction of this court on the following questions certified by the Third District Court of Appeal to be of great public importance:

- 1. Does the State have the authority to file interlocutory appeals in juvenile cases and, if not, may this court review by certiorari an order suppressing evidence in such a case? State v. J.M. and State v. J.H., supra.
- 2. Does the State have the authority to file plenary appeals in juvenile case and, if not, may this court review by certiorari an order dismissing a petition for delinquency? State v. V.V., State v. A.M. State v. J.W. State v. R.H. and State v. J.B., supra.
- 3. Does the State have the authority to file an interlocutory appeal from an order granting a motion to suppress in a juvenile case, and, if not, may this court review that order by certiorari? State v. S.L., supra.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The nine cases consolidated in this review are state appeals from juvenile cases. Each of the nine cases was dismissed upon the authority of State v. C.C., suppra, in which the Third District Court of Appeal held the state

had no right to seek appellate review for final or interlocutory orders of the trial court in juvenile proceedings and that likewise, the state had no right to seek certiorari review of final or interlocutory orders from the trial The State sought appellate or certiorari review from final orders of the trial court in State v. R.B., State v. V.B., State v. A.M., State v. J.W., State v. R.H. and State v. J.B. The State sought appellate or certiorari review of interlocutory orders granting juvenile motions to suppress in the cases of State v. S.L., State v. J.M. and State v. J.H.. The Third District Court of Appeal refused to reach the merits in any of these nine cases, and instead granted motions to dismiss, based upon State v. C.C. in each case. All nine cases were brought in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Dade County, Florida. In State v. C.C., the opinion which controls resolution of these nine cases, the Third District Court of Appeal held that since the State's right to appeal is purely statutory and since Chapter 39 of the Florida Statutes contains no provision authorizing an appeal by the State, there was no statutory right for the State to appeal orders in juvenile cases. The court also expressly disagreed with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in State v. W.A.M. 412 So.2d 49, review denied, 419

¹A copy of the decision in <u>State v. C.C.</u> is included in the appendix to this brief. (A-1).

So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1982) insofar as that decision found a constitutional right to appeal in the state. Additionally, the court found the state had no right to take interlocutory review because Article V Section 4(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution permits interlocutory review only in cases in which appeal may be taken as a matter of right. The concurring opinion elaborated on the reasoning behind the majority opinion and also stated that, contrary to the suggestion in State v. D.C.W. 426 So.2d 971 n.1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (petition pending in Supreme Court of Florida, Case No. 62,333), since the state appeals in juvenile case were unauthorized, a notice of appeal could not be treated as a petition for certiorari. Upon the authority of this decision, these nine case were dismissed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The en banc decision of the Third District Court of Appeal is State v. C.C., supra held that since the state's right to appeal is purely statutory and because no legislative authorization for review of final orders in juvenile cases exists, the state has no right to appeal final judgents or orders in juvenile cases. The decision specifically found that neither the Florida Juvenile Justice Act, chapter 39 of the Florida Statutes, nor chapter 924 of the Florid Statutes giverning appeals in criminal cases contain any provisions authorizing an appeal by the state in juvenile cases. The decision also expressly rejected the contention that Article V, §4(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution provided the state a constitutional right to appeal final orders entered against it.

In addition, the Third District's decision held that the state also has no right to appeal interlocutory orders in juvenile cases because pursuant to Article V, §4(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution, interlocutory review may be had only in those cases in which an appeal may be taken as a matter of right. Since the state may not take an appeal of a juvenile final order as a matter of right (but only when statutorily authorized), the state likewise may not appeal interlocutory orders in juvenile cases. The court further

noted that the Florida Supreme Court has not yet adopted any rules pursuant to Article V, \$4(b)(1) for state review of interlocutory orders in juvenile cases. According to the Third District, the state cannot turn to Rule 9.140(c), Fla.R.App.P., for the right to appeal interlocutory orders because Rule 9.140 concerns only appeals in non-final orders in criminal cases, and juvenile cases are not criminal.

And finally, the Third District determined that since the state cannot avail itself of appellate review of juvenile orders, the state also may not seek certiorari review fo juvenile orders by treating otherwise unauthorized notices of appeal as petitions for certiorari.

The state will limit its argument in this brief to two points. First, it contends the denial of the right to petition the court for a writ of certiorari is based upon a false premise and ignores the long established rule of law that certiorari applies to those situations in which a party has no recourse to appeal or writ of error. The court has also mistakenly assumed that certiorari is now limited to review of appellate decisions of lower courts. In doing so, it has ignored the provisions of Article V which vest original jurisdictional in the district courts of appeal for the purpose of issuing the writ and it has ignored the great weight of opinion recognizing the unique role of the writ.

The right to petition for writ of certiorari is a common law right not subject to any restraint absent specific statutory language abolishing or limiting the right. No such law exists and therefore the common law prevails.

Above and beyond this contention is the State's position on its right to appeal from final and select interlocutory orders and judgments of the circuit court. The Florida Constitution Article V, \$4(B)(1) supercedes the authority of the legislature to control access to the courts. The constitution now vest control of access to the courts in the Supreme Court of Florida which is authorized to promulgate rules of procedure. Analysis of the evolution of Article V, the decisional progess of this court and the general rules of constitutional construction will prove that Florida's court system has evolved away from a system controlled by the legislature.

Because the only limit on the state's right to appeal is the limit on access it provides through its rules the only real issue is whether any court rules limit the state's right appeal. The state's final contention is that final and interlocutory orders are controlled by the provisions for Rule 9.140 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure and that this court has ratified this position in its previous review of juvenile-initiated appeals.

Concerning the disposition of these nine cases, the state contends that their final disposition should be based on this court's final decision in State v. C.C..

POINTS INVOLVED ON APPEAL

Ι

WHETHER WELL-ESTABLISHED FLORIDA
DECISIONAL LAW AND THE CLEAR
PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA RULES OF
APPELLATE PROCEDURE AND THE FLORIDA
CONSTITUTION PROVIDE THE DISTRICT
COURTS OF APPEAL WITH CERTIORARI
JURISDICTION TO REVIEW FINAL AND
INTERLOCUTORY ORDERS BROUGHT BY THE
STATE IN JUVENILE CASES FOR WHICH
NO APPELLATE REVIEW IS POSSIBLE?

ΙI

WHETHER THE STATE HAS THE CONSTITU-TIONAL RIGHT TO APPEAL FINAL AND INTERLOCUTORY ORDERS ENTERED AGAINST IT IN JUVENILE CASES PURSU-ANT TO ARTICLE V, §4(B)(1) AND RULE 9.140(c) OF THE FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE?

ARGUMENT

Ι

WELL-ESTABLISHED FLORIDA DECISIONAL LAW AND THE CLEAR PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE AND THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION PROVIDE THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL WITH CERTIORARI JURISDICTION TO REVIEW FINAL AND INTERLOCUTORY ORDERS BROUGHT BY THE STATE IN JUVENILE CASES FOR WHICH NO APPELLATE REVIEW IS POSSIBLE.

Two points need to be made concerning the jurisdiction of the district courts to hear state-initiated petitions for certiorari review of circuit court orders issued in juvenile delinquency cases. First, a review of the organic nature of the writ, case law interpreting the proper scope of the writ and the very clear constitutional and procedural provisions, makes it clear that the district courts have jurisdiction to issue writs of certiorari, regardless of any real or imagined limitation on the state's right to appeal in juve-Secondly, the handling of this issue within the nile cases. Third District Court of Appeals has been marked by a lack of consistency in approaching the issue. This inconsistency in analysis of legal precedent and decision-making is indicative of the court's inability to justify its campaign to deprive the people of Florida of due process of law in all their legal proceedings. Rather than recognize the role of the writ in our jurisprudence, the district court has engaged in smoke screen tactics to justify its action.

Simply stated, the writ of common law certiorari issues from a court holding appellate jurisdiction to an inferior court and orders the lower court to send up the record in a case, where an appeal or writ of error is not available, for a determination of whether the lower court exceeded its jurisdiction or proceeded in a manner contrary to the essential requirements of law. Harrison v. Fink, 75 Fla. 22, 77 So. 663 (1918); Kilgore v. Bird, 149 Fla. 570, 6 So.2d 541 (1942); Malone v. Costin, 410 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Examples of the use and scope of the writ in cases involving prosecution of the criminal law include State v. Wilcox, 351 So.2d 89 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977)(State could seek review by certiorari in situation where defendant was given unsupervised probation by the trial court in clear violation of statute. This was true even though State right to appeal was limited to situations involving illegal sentences as opposed to illegal probation term); State v. Smith, 260 So.2d 489 (Fla. 1972)(Supreme court held that the state had right to seek certiorari review from interlocutory order of trial court granting a defense motion to compel state's witness to submit to an eye examination. Such an option was available even in the face of a clear-cut limit on the State's right to appeal the order.); State v. I.B., 366 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) (District Court cited Smith in support of ruling that State could petition for writ of certiorari in situation wherein trial court freed an alleged juvenile

delinquent from secure detention because the prosecutor presented nothing but hearsay evidence at the juvenile's detention hearing.); and State v. Steinbrecher, 409 So.2d 510 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)(Rule 9.140(c) F.R.App.P. is not a proscription on the power of the district court to review, by common law certiorari, pre-trial evidentiary rulings which otherwise confirm to the traditional requirements of this writ.).

These decisions drew their strength from the very clear provisions of our State constitution and the Rules of Appellate Procedure established by this court. Article V §4(b)(3) provides, "A district court of appeal may issue writs of. . .certiorari. . .and other writs necessary to the complete exercise of its jurisdiction." Rule 9.030(b)(2)(A) and (b)(3), F.R.App.P., likewise provide for certiorari review. The original jurisdiction of the courts is certainly appropriate for review purposes of final orders and judgments under Rule 9.030(b)(3). State v. J.P.W., 433 So.2d 616 (Fla. 1962); State v. Harris, 136 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1962)(Supreme Court held that passage of Chapter 924.07 Fla.Stat.¹, does not and was not intended to proscribe the

^{1§924.07} Appeal by State - The state may appeal from:

⁽¹⁾ An order dismissing an indictment or information or any count thereof;

⁽²⁾ An order granting a new trial;

authority of the state to seek common law certiorari in the dsitrict court.). This is also true for the review of interlocutory orders which are otherwise appropriate for review. State v. Smith, supra, State v. Steinbrecher, supra. Contrary to the opinion of the Third District in State v. G.P., 429 So.2d 786 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (now on review in this court, Case No. 63,613), the application of certiorari review is not limited by Rule 9.030(b) or Rule 9.140(c) F.R.Cr.P. which established jurisdictional guidelines from final orders. In both G.P. and C.C. the Third District spoke of, "jurisdictional limitation", on the right to appeal which, could not be circumvented by resort to a writ of certiorari. The court also declared that historically, Florida courts could utilize the writ on for the

⁽³⁾ An order arresting judgment;

⁽⁴⁾ A ruling on a question of law when the defendant is convicted and appeals from the judgment;

⁽⁵⁾ The sentence on the ground that it is illegal;

⁽⁶⁾ A judgment discharging a prisoner on habeas corpus;

⁽⁷⁾ An order adjudicating a defendant insane under the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure;

⁽⁸⁾ All other pre-trial orders, except that it may not take more than one appeal under this subsection in any case.

Such appeal shall embody all assignments or error in each pretrial order that the state seeks to have reviewed. The state shall pay all costs of such except for the defendant's attorney fee.

Section 924.07 and 071 are mirrored in Rule 9.140(c) F.R.App.P.

purpose of "supervisory review of a decision of a lower court sitting in its appellate capacity..." <u>G.P.</u>, p. 6.

Neither argument is correct. Twenty four years ago, the Third District knew the role of certiorari. As it explained in its opinion in <u>State v. Katz</u>, 108 So.2d 60, 61 (Fla. 3d DCA 1959):

The common law writ of certiorari cannot be made to serve the purpose of an appellate proceeding in the nature of a writ of error. The writ involves a limited review of the proceedings of an inferior jurisdiction. It is original in the sense that the subject matter of the suit or proceeding which it brings before the court are not here reinvestigated tried and determined upo the merits generally as upon appeal at law.

Basnet v. City of Jacksonville, 18 Fla. 523.

Again in 1982, the Third District revisited the same issue in <u>State v. Steinbercher</u>, <u>supra</u>, when it held that Rule 9.140(c) does limit appeal by the state but, "this limitation as to appeal is not a bar to this court's power of discretionary review" at 409 So.2d 511. Suddenly, with the challenge in <u>G.P.</u> and <u>C.C.</u> to the state's ability to appeal from the trial court, there arose, "jurisdictional limitations" based upon "historical underpinnings", which not only ignore <u>Katz</u> and <u>Steinbrecher</u> but, also, the definitions of certiorari provided by this court in Kilgore v. Bird,

supra; State v. Smith, supra; and Harrison v. Fink, supra. Factually, and in contrast to the historical underpinning analysis in G.P., certiorari has been used by the District Courts on numerous occasions to review otherwise unreachable orders of trial courts. See State v. Steinbrecher; State v. Joseph, 419 So.2d 391 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); State v. Matera, 378 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); State v. Farmer, 384 So.2d 311 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); State v. Horvatch, 413 So.2d 469 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982)(citing State v. Smith, supra); State v. Gillespie, 227 So.2d 550 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969); and State v. Ramos, 378 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

Obviously concerned with this apparent conflict with its own prior decisions, the court changed direction in $\underline{\text{C.C.}}$. Now, it's excuse for for refusing certiorari review is:

Moreover, since, as I believe, the supreme court has not generally provided for review of any interlocutory orders in these cases, I think it unwise and perhaps impermissible for us to circumvent that decision by treating a thus-unauthorized notice of appeal as a petition for certiorari. effect of this in the case, for example, of an order suppressing a confession, which is before us in case no. 81-22564, would be for this court to write a juvenile rule equivalent to criminal Fla.r.App.P. 9.140(c)(1)B. But we have not authority to and should not permit review in an instance in which the supreme court has deliberately declined to do so. In this respect,

I thoroughly agree with Judge Cowart's dissenting view in State ex rel. Alton v. Conkling, 421 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). But cf. State v. D.C.W., _So.2d_, n.1 (Fla. 4th DCA Case no. 81-1699, opinion filed, September 1, 1982)[7 FLW 1889].

This rationalization is no better than the one offered in First, the whole purpose of certiorari is to review fundamentally tainted orders and judgments which would otherwise fustrate our system of justice because an appeal is not authorized. Second, allowing for certiorari review would not be the equivalent to writing a juvenile court version of Rule 9.140(c)(1)(B) because the scope of certiorari is not as broad as the scope of appeal. A narrow review, by certiorari, of the question of whether the lower court proceed in a manner contrary to the essential requirements of law, is not the same broad review described by Chapter 924.31, which allows for reversal of the lower court upon a showing, "... That error was committed that injuriously affected the substantial rights of the appellant." Thirdly, Judge Cowart's dissenting view in State ex rel Alton v. Conkling, 421 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) dealt with abuse of the writ of prohibition in a situation wherein the child could seek appellate review at a later period in time. 421 So.2d 1112-13.

In contrast to that factual situation the State of Florida lacks the option of going forward in a case where, for example, evidence has been suppressed or where a discharge has been granted for alleged violation of the speedy trial rule. The "tough luck" attitude now in vogue is a sharp contrast to the 1980 views of the Third District in State v. Matera:

Accordingly, we note that although those doors open to the stte in initiating appellate review are limited to a specific set of circumstances, see Section 924.07 and 924.071, Florida Statutes (1977), and Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(c), nevertheless, in so far as such doors do exist, the appellate courts must be ever-watchful to assure that all of them remain open.

* * *

... The concept of justice is a twosided coin, demanding utilization of procedures that deprive neither the defendant nor the state of the full and timely employment of those rights and privileges extended to each of them under the law.

* * *

The occasions on which the state may appeal being strictly limited, it is our duty to protect these rights as carefully as we must protect those of the defendant.

378 So.2d 1287.

This court has never had the conceptual problem now

afflicting the Third District on this issue. The appellant realizes this and hopes that this Court will instruct the district as to the error of its ways. When all other remedies fall short of the goal of insuring the essential requirements of law are met, the writ of certiorari is available to face that task. Should this court decide that the State of Florida cannot appeal from final or interlocutory orders of the Juvenile Courts, this extraordinary writ would be the only way to insure the orderly and uniform process of law.

THE STATE HAS THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO APPEAL FINAL AND INTERLO-CUTORY ORDERS ENTERED AGAINST IT IN JUVENILE CASES PURSUANT TO ARTICLE V, §4(B)(1) AND RULE 9.140(c) OF THE FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE.

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