IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 64,395-403

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

J.M., V.V., J.H., A.M., J.W. S.L., R.B., R.H., and J.B., juveniles,

Respondents.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1351 Northwest 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125

OURT

BRUCE A. ROSENTHAL Assistant Public Defender

Attorneys for Respondents

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE STATE IS NOT AUTHORIZED TO APPEAL JUVENILE COURT ORDERS IN DELINQUENCY CASES.

> A. THERE IS NO STATUTORY OR RULE AUTHORITY FOR SUCH APPEALS.

1. <u>There Is No Statutory Authority For State Appeals From Final</u> Juvenile Court Orders.

The right to appeal a final order is a substantive one, which must be authorized either by statute or constitution. <u>See</u>, <u>State v. Furen</u>, 118 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1960). It has been held, where the question has arisen in criminal cases, that the State's right to appeal is purely statutory. <u>Whidden v. State</u>, 159 Fla. 691, 32 So.2d 577 (1947); <u>Balikes v. Speleos</u>, 173 So.2d 735 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965); <u>cert</u>. <u>dismissed</u>, 193 So.2d 434 (Fla. 1967); <u>State v.</u> Brown, 330 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976).

As statutory authority for appeals in juvenile delinquency cases, the State relies upon Chapters 39 and 924, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u> (1982). Neither chapter supports the State's position.

Chapter 39, the Florida Juvenile Justice Act, pursuant to which adjudicatory hearings are held, clearly provides a juvenile with the right to appeal a final order thereunder, and just as clearly does not provide the State with such a right:

> (1) Any child, and any parent or legal custodian of any child, affected by an order of the court may appeal to the appropriate district court of appeal within the time and in the manner prescribed by the Florida Appellate Rules.

(2) The Department of Legal Affairs shall represent the state upon appeal. The

-2-

Department of Legal Affairs shall be notified of the appeal by the clerk when the notice of appeal is filed in the circuit court.

§ 39.14, Florida Statutes, (1982).

1

2

Chapter 924, which provides for appeals as of right by the defendant or the State in <u>criminal cases</u>,¹ must be read <u>in pari</u> <u>materia²</u> with the pertinent provisions of the Florida Criminal Code. Section 775.08(4) of the Criminal Code provides: "The term 'crime' shall mean a felony or misdemeanor." Sections 775.08(1) and 775.08(2) in turn respectively define the term "felony" as any criminal offense punishable by death or imprisonment in a state penitentiary, and the term "misdemeanor" as any criminal offense punishable by imprisonment in a county correctional facility not in excess of one year.

Chapter 39, the Juvenile Justice Act, clearly does not authorize imprisonment for a juvenile who is adjudicated delinquent. <u>See</u>, § 39.11, <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1982). Moreover, Section 39.10(4) expressly provides that "an adjudication by a court that

Section 924.02, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1982) provides: "The defendant or the state may appeal in <u>criminal cases.</u>" (Emphasis supplied).

Section 924.05 provides: "Appeals provided for in this chapter are a matter of right."

Section 924.07 specifies the final criminal case orders which the State may appeal. Sections 924.07(8) and 924.071(1), which purport to provide a right to appeal interlocutory orders, have been held an unconstitutional infringement of this Court's rulemaking authority. <u>State v. Smith</u>, 260 So.2d 489 (1972).

Statutory provisions relating to the same subject matter are to be construed harmoniously. <u>See, Garner v. Ward</u>, 251 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1971); <u>Goldstein v. Acme Concrete Corporation</u>, 103 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1958). a child has committed a delinquent act shall not be deemed a conviction; nor shall the child be deemed to have been found guilty or to be a criminal by reason of that adjudication(.)" As stated in State v. D. H., 340 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 1976):

The authority for Chapter 39, Florida Statutes, emanates from Article I, Section 15(b), Florida Constitution, which provides:

> "When authorized by law, a child as therein defined may be charged with a violation of law as an act of delinquency <u>instead of crime</u> and tried without a jury or other requirements applicable to criminal cases. Any child so charged shall, upon demand made as provided by law before a trial in a juvenile proceeding, be tried in an appropriate court as an adult. A child found delinquent shall be disciplined as provided by law."

It is clear that through adoption of the quoted constitutional provision as well as the predecessor provision in Article V of the Constitution of 1885 the people of this State determined that violations of law by children should not be treated as <u>crimes</u> but rather as <u>acts</u> of <u>delinquency</u>.

Id. at 1165. (Emphasis the Court's).

Thus, since juvenile cases are not criminal cases within the meaning of Chapter 924, without question the latter chapter is not authority for State appeals from adverse rulings under Chapter 39. And, of course, under the principle <u>expressio unius</u> <u>est exclusio alterius</u> - the mention of one thing in a statute implies the exclusion of another - the silence of Section 39.14 on a State right to appeal is material and controlling. <u>Thayer</u> <u>v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976); <u>Baeza v. Pan</u> American/National Airlines, Inc., 392 So.2d 920 (Fla. 3d DCA

-4-

1981); <u>Devin v. City of Hollywood</u>, 351 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). See, Whidden v. State, 159 Fla. 691, 32 So.2d 577 (1947).

Accord, State v. Waterman, 212 Kan. 826, 512 P.2d 466

(1973):

It will be noted that nowhere in the statute is any provision made for the state to appeal to district court; only the child or someone acting in its behalf is so authorized. We believe the omission is significant and meaningful.

The juvenile court act is a comprehensive inclusive act covering the entire field of juvenile delinguency, miscreancy, dependency and neglect, and it provides its own specific procedures. It is full and complete within It governs an area which is disitself. tinctly unique; where the position of the state is that of parens patriae; and where the juvenile court serves as an arm of the state, acting as will best serve the child's welfare and the best interests of the state. (K.S.A. 38-801.) In furtherance of this laudable design the legislature has seen fit in K.S.A. 1972 Supp. 38-834(b) to provide for an appeal by any child, or by certain designated parties acting on its behalf, from any final order of the juvenile court. ... The fact that the legislature saw fit to provide for an appeal by the child would seem persuasive that by not providing for an appeal by the state, the legislative intention was that there be no appeal by the state.

<u>Id</u>., 512 P.2d at 570.

The legislative restriction rests on a sound policy foundation. There are several means by which the state can remove cases deemed serious enough from juvenile to criminal court and thereby avail itself of the additional appellate protections from adverse rulings in the latter court under Chapter 924 and <u>Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure</u> 9.140(c)(1)(B). In addition to waiver procedures for juveniles

-5-

at least fourteen years old, Section 39.02(5)(a), the State can direct file an information against sixteen or seventeen year olds, Section 39.02(2)(e)(4), and may seek a grand jury indictment for any crime punishable by death or life imprisonment, Section 39.02(5)(c). <u>See, State v. King</u>, 426 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1982). The legislature could (and did) more than reasonably conclude that for the cases remaining in juvenile court, in accordance with the salutary purposes of the Chapter (see Section 39.001) and the availability of extraordinary review by commonlaw certiorari,³ the relative interests of the juvenile and the State did not require that the State categorically have a right to appeal.

2. <u>An Interlocutory Right Of Appeal Is Dependent Upon A Right To</u> Appeal Final Orders And Upon Authorization By Rule.

Article V, Section 4(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution (1972) provides:

JURISDICTION - District courts of appeal shall have jurisdiction to hear appeals, that may be taken as a matter of right, from final judgments or orders of trial courts, including those entered on review of administrative action, not directly appealable to the supreme court or a circuit court. They may review interlocutory orders in such cases to the extent provided by rules adopted by the supreme court.

Under this provision, the juveniles submit that there are two requirements for an interlocutory order to be appealable:

3

See, State v. Harris, 136 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1962), and Respondents' Argument II, infra, at 24.

(1) the "such cases" requirement, that is, that the category of case is such that a final order would be appealable, by an adversely affected party, as of right to the District Court of Appeal; and (2) the "provided by rules" requirement, that is, that an interlocutory appeal be authorized by Florida Supreme Court rule. The State can meet neither requirement here.

As to the first requirement, the juveniles would submit that, as the District Court concluded, a party's right to appeal a ruling on an interlocutory basis contemplates and is dependent upon a right to appeal a final judgment in the case. See generally, State v. Preston, 376 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1979); Ray Lein Construction, Inc. v. Wainwright, 346 So.2d 1029 (Fla. 1977); Burnsed v. Seaboard Coastline Railroad Company, 290 So.2d 13, 16-17 (Fla. 1974); Gulf Fertilizer Company v. Walden, 163 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1964). The provision was not intended to authorize this Court to create, by declaring it interlocutory, a right of appeal where none would otherwise exist at all; such a conclusion would be contrary to the fundamental separation of powers principle that rules promulgated by this Court may not enlarge the substantive rights of a litigant. See, State v. Furen, 118 So.2d 6, 11-12 (Fla. 1960); Vic Potamkin Chevrolet, Inc. v. Bloom, 386 So.2d 286 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (Hubbart, J., concurring). Rather, consistent with the historic framework of respective concerns of the branches of government, it is apparent that the intent was to allow temporal advancement of a right of appeal otherwise existing where, in this Court's view, the interests of justice and efficient judicial administration indicate this to be

-7-

appropriate.

As to the second requirement, this Court has not provided in the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure for interlocutory appeals in juvenile cases. Rule 9.140, entitled "Appeal Proceedings in <u>Criminal Cases</u>" (emphasis supplied) does not, for the same reason that Chapter 924 does not, apply to delinquency proceedings under Chapter 39. See Respondents' Argument at 3-4, <u>supra</u>.

This conclusion is further compelled by the terms of the rule itself. Paragraph (c), Appeals by the State, provides as follows:

(1) Appeals Permitted. The State may appeal an order:

(A) Dismissing an indictment or information or any count thereof;

(B) Suppressing before trial confessions, admissions or evidence obtained by search and seizure;

(C) Granting a new trial;

(D) Arresting judgment;

(E) Discharging a defendant pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191;

(F) Discharging a prisoner on habeas corpus;

(G) Adjudicating a defendant incompetent or insane;

(H) Ruling on a question of law when a convicted defendant appeals his judgment of conviction; and may appeal

(I) An illegal sentence.

It is readily apparent that every provision speaks of criminal defendants, not juvenile respondents. Criminal defendants are charged by indictment or information; juvenile respondents are charged by petition for delinquency. Criminal defendants are brought to trial; juvenile respondents are brought to adjudicatory hearing. Only criminal defendants may be discharged pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191; the authority for discharge of juvenile respondents is Fla.R.Juv.P. 8.180. Criminal defendants, if found guilty, may be convicted or adjudicated guilty; an adjudication of delinquency of a juvenile expressly does not operate as a conviction nor even as a finding of criminal guilt. Section 39.10(4), Fla. Stat. (1982). An adjudication of incompetence or insanity is authorized for a criminal defendant, but not for a juvenile respondent. Compare §§ 916.13, 916.15, Fla. Stat. (1982); Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.212, 3.214, 3.217, 3.218, with <u>Fla.R.Juv.P.</u> 8.170. Finally, criminal defendants may be sentenced, whereas juvenile respondents may, at most, be committed (to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services).

Thus, from a straightforward reading of both its title and provisions, as well as the principle <u>expressio</u> <u>unius</u> <u>est</u> <u>exclusio</u> <u>alterius</u>, it is clear that Rule 9.140 does not authorize State appeals of juvenile interlocutory orders.

As noted by Chief Judge Schwartz in the opinion below, slip opinion at page 4, n. 6, the decisions of <u>D.S.K. v. State</u>, 396

-9-

So.2d 730 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) and <u>In the Interest of D.J.</u>, 330 So.2d 34 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975) holding that under the appellate rules preparation of records on appeal in juvenile cases should be treated as in criminal rather than civil cases, are not to the contrary, since they deal properly and only with the <u>procedural</u> aspects of otherwise (statutorily) authorized juvenile appeals.

Nor, as cryptically indicated by the dissent below and by the Petitioner in its brief, does the decision of R.J.B. v. State, 408 So.2d 1048 (Fla. 1982) in any way support a construction of Rule 9.140 as authorizing interlocutory appeals in juvenile cases. In R.J.B., a juvenile sought to appeal a court order waiving juvenile jurisdiction and certifying him for trial as an adult. This Court, agreeing with the Fifth District, held that a waiver order is interlocutory, that no statute could be effective to provide appellate review because the constitution vests sole authority in this Court to determine when interlocutory appeals may be taken, and that no appeal of the order was authorized by Rule 9.140 or other court rule. R.J.B. did not in the least purport to hold that Rule 9.140(c) constitutes authority for State interlocutory appeals in juvenile cases; paragraph (c) of Rule 9.140 was not even referred to in that case. Indeed, far from supporting the Petitioner's position, R.J.B. underscores the requirement that an interlocutory appeal must be specifically authorized by court rule. The State can point to no such authorizing rule in the case herein.

Lastly on this point, the State further intimates, again

-10-

based on its untenable reading of <u>R.J.B.</u>, that Rule 9.140 governs not only interlocutory criminal appeals, but appeals from final orders as well. Other than as to procedural aspects such as time periods, this assertion is patently incorrect. The right to appeal final orders is a substantive matter. <u>State v. Furen</u>, 118 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1960); <u>Clement v. Aztec Sales</u>, 297 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1974); <u>Vic Potamkin Chevrolet Inc. v. Bloom</u>, 386 So.2d 286 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (Hubbart, J., concurring).

> B. THE RIGHT TO APPEAL PROVIDED IN THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION DOES NOT INCLUDE A STATE RIGHT TO APPEAL FROM FINAL JUDGMENTS ENTERED AGAINST IT IN THE EXERCISE OF LAW ENFORCEMENT FUNCTIONS.

Although the decision in <u>State v. W.A.M.</u>, 412 So.2d 49 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), <u>review denied</u> (Fla. 1982)⁴ is correct in its basic premise that Article V reflects a general right of appeal from final judgments, its summary one-sentence conclusion that the State has a constitutional right of appeal does not follow.

Preliminarily, a careful reading of <u>Crownover v. Shannon</u>, 170 So.2d 299 (Fla. 1964), relied upon by the <u>W.A.M.</u> court, refutes the asserted conclusion. Importantly, the State was not

4

As this Court's records will reflect, the <u>W.A.M.</u> holding regarding a State right to appeal was not before this Court in W.A.M.'s petition for discretionary review. The juvenile W.A.M. sought review only of the holding on the merits that a continuance obtained by him waived the benefits of the juvenile speedy trial rule, <u>Fla.R.Juv.P.</u> 8.180.

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